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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

SHROYER BROS., INC,,
Plaintiff,
VS. No. 1:16ev-00735JMS-DML
CRAIG NICHOLS,TERRY WHITT
BAILEY, JAMES LEE,DOUG

MARSHALL, AARON WOOD,BRAD
KING, and DEBRA MALITZ

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants.
ORDER

Plaintiff Shroyer Bros., Inc. Shroyef) is a corporation engaged in the demolition
contracting business in Delaware County, Indiana. DefendantsNichigls, Terry Whitt Bailey,
James Lee, Doug Marshall, Aaron Wood, Brad King, and Debra Malitz all hotwiggrositions
with the City of Muncie, Indiana. This action stems from two separate insiddntShroyer
performed demlation on a Budget Inn, dcovered a concrete slab, and Defendants allegedly
refused to perform a final inspection on the property and retained a portion of thesoboret’
that Shroyeallegest is entitled to; and (2) Shroyeontracted with the City of Muncie to perform
demolition on a residential structure, had to stop-danoholition due to a court order, was told
after the order was lifted to resume dédition, but by then was working on another project and
could not resume demolition that day3efendants allegedlyired another entity to complete the
project.

Shroyer asserts claims against Defendants for violatig2 &1.S.C. § 1983conversion,
and business defamation. Presently pending before the Court are several motiatisgind)

Shroyer's Application for Judgment by Defaulgillng No. 51; (2) Defendants’ Motion to
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Dismiss Amended Complaint Pursuanttad. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6]Filing No. 54; (3) Shroyer’s
Motion to Strike Immaterial and Surpliatter from Defendants’ Motioto Dismiss for Failure
to State a Claimfiling No. 59; (4) Shroyer’s Motion for Leave to Reply to Daflant’s Response
in Support of Dismissal Hling No. 66; and (5) Shroyer’s Request for Oral Argumeft)ihg

No. 69.

l.
MOTION FOR DEFAULT JUDGMENT

A. Background
Shroyer filed its initial Complaint in this matter on April 2016, Filing No. 1], and
Defendants acknowledged that they received the Complaint on April 2, 2016, through Waivers of

Service, Filing No. 171 Filing No. 12 Filing No. 13 Filing No. 14 Filing No. 15 Filing No. 16

Filing No. 17] Sixty days later, on June 1, 2016, Defendants filed a Motion to Disnkigsg [
No. 26] On August 31, 2016, the Court granted in pad denied in pa$hroyer’'s Motion for
Leave to Amengdrequiring Shroyer to file an Amended Complaint within five days of the Order.
[Filing No. 4Q] Shroyer filed its Amended Complaint on September 2, 2616 g No. 41], and
Defendants filed their responsive pleadithe pending Motion to Dismisson September 19,
2016, Filing No. 54.

B. Discussion

In its Motion for Default Judgment, Shroyer argues thafendants were required to

respond to the Amended Complaint within fourteen days of service or the balandeaigiveal

60 days to respond to the initial Complaint, whichever was longémd No. 51 at 12.] Shroyer
contends that the éfay period to respond to the initial Complaint had expired on June 1, 2016,
so Defendants had fourteen days to respond to the Amended ComplainFaddér. Civ. P.

15(a)(3) [Filing No. 51 at 4 It asserts that the fourtegiay period expired on September 16,
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2016, but Defendants did not file their Motion to Dismiss until September 19, 2B1i6g No.
51 at 2] Shroyer requests a money judgment in its favor of $60,000 against Defendants Nichols,
Lee, Marshall, Wood, Malitz, and Kinga money judgment in its favor of $10%4gainst
Defendant Baileyjudgment on the issue aébility against Ms. Bailey; amjunction prohibiting
Defendants from “depriving [Shroyer] of the compensaéiveady due it and the right to be treated
equally with other demolition contract bidders, under applicable law, including anr@gdéring

the Plaintiff be regarded as a responsive bidder so long as it meets obgectiapplicable
statutory or regudtory criteria”;and a judgment declaring that Defendants are liable to Shroyer
“for financial losses resulting from treatment more onerous than other demobtractors with

which the City of Muncie contracts....”F{ling No. 51 at 2-3

Defendants respond that September 19, 2016 (the day they filed the Motion to Dismiss)
was actually the deadline for filing their responsive pleading to the Ardebdmplaint because
they were affordethree additional days since they were “responding to a pleading via the Court’s

CM/ECF system.” ffiling No. 53 at Aciting and discussinged. R. Civ. P. }]

Shroyer did not file a reply.

Rule 55 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure sets forth estem process for a party
seeking default judgmeniicCarthy v. Fuller 2009 WL 3617740, at *1 (S.D. Ind. 2008¢ge also
Lowe v. McGrawHill Companies, In¢.361 F.3d 335, 339 (7th Cir. 200&The Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure make a clear distinction between the entry of default and thefatdefault
judgment.”). First, the plaintiff must obtain an entry of default from the Cléed. R. Civ. Pro.
55(a) Second, after obtaining that entry, the plaintiff may seek an entry of default juddgrad.

R. Civ. Pro. 55(h) The plaintiff “is not permitted to bypass the necessary step of obtaining an
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entry of default” before seekiram entry of default judgmenBroassurance Indemnity Company,
Inc. v. Wagoner2016 WL 231315, *1 (S.D. Ind. 201@itation and quotation omitted).
Shroyerhas not moved for a Clerk’s entry of default pursuarftg¢deral Rule of Civil
Procedure 55(apand its Motion for Default Judgment can be denied on that basis &oihéhe
motion also fds substantively. The parties appear to agree that Defendants’ responsivegpleadi
wasoriginally due September 16, 20L6derFed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(3)Unless the court orders
otherwise, any required response to an amended pleading must be made within #radimag

to respond to the original pleading or within 14 days after service of the amended pleading,

whichever is later”). $eeFiling No. 51 at AShroyerarguing that “[tlhe fourteeday period for
response under Rule 15(a)(3) expired no later than midnight on Friday, September 16, 2016....");

Filing No. 53 at 12 (Defendants arguintpat responsive pleading was due three days after original

due date, and using September 16, 2016 as original due date).]

Defendants are correct, however, that they were entitled to an additi@eadtys tdil e
their responsive pleadirigecause the Amended Complaint was served electroni@elg-ed. R.
Civ. P.5(b)(2)(E)(allowing service by “sending it by electronic means if the person catsant
writing — in which event service is ogplete upon transmission, butnset effective if the serving
party learns that it did not reach the person to be senveeti);R. Civ. P. 6(d{version of the rule
in effect before December 1, 20pBoviding that “[wlhen a party may or must act within a
specified time after service and service is made under®Ro)j€&)(C), (D), (E), or (F), 3 days are

added after the period would otherwise expire under Rule 6{(#¢cordingly, Defendants timely

! Rule 6 was amended, effective December 1, 2016 (after Defendants filed tbe tdd@ismiss),
to “remove service by electronic means under Rule 5(b)(2)(E) from the modeacé sieat allow
3 added days to act after being serveeed. R. Civ. P. scomment to 2016 Amendment.
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filed their Motion to Dismiss on September 19, 20168eventeen days after they received
electronic service. Shroge Application for Judgment by Defaulfifing No. 51, is DENIED.

Il.
MISCELLANEOUS M OTIONS

Before considering the substantive arguments Defendants raise in their Mddismiss,
the Court willconsider thre@ther motions- Shroyer’s Motion to Strike Immaterial and Surplus
Matter from Defendants’ Motioto Dismiss for Failure to State a Clairfil[ng No. 59, Shroyer’s
Motion for Leave to Reply to Defendant’s Response in Support of Dismisgalg[No. 64, and
Shroyer's Request for Oral Argumeniil[ng No. 69. This is necesary because thmotions
relate to the scope of information that the Court could consider in deciding the Motimmig$

A. Motion to Strike

Shroyer moves to strike portions of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, raisingaseve
arguments.First, Shroyer argues thBefendants discuss allegations they made in a state court
proceeding, and then contradict themselves thramghmentsnade in this cge. [Filing No. 58
at 5] Second, Shroyer asserts that Defendants “persistently inform the cotifiti)whast prove
at trial,” and that “the only issue arising under Rule 12(b)(8)hHat must be pleaded to state a

claim.” [Filing No. 58 at 56.] Third, Shroyer argues that in their Motion to Dismiss Defendants

rely on facts which contradict the facts pled in the Amended Complaihich must be accepted

as true at the motion to dismiss stag€ilifg No. 58 at 67.] Finally, Shroyer contends that

Defendants mischaracterize the facts that ke in the Amended ComplaintFi[ing No. 58 at

7-10]
In response, Defendants argue that material can only be stricken fraading| not a

brief, as Shroyer requests herEilifijg No. 65 at 12.] They assert that the Motion to Strike simply
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rehashes arguments that are raised in Shroyer’s response to the MotismissPand go on to

specifically address each $hroyer’s arguments.F{ling No. 65 at 4-9

Local Rule 561(i) states that “[tlhe court disfavors collateral motierssich as motions to
strike—in the summary judgment process. Any dispute over the admissibility or@&fagtlence
must be raised through an objection within a party’s brief.” While this ruleesgplthe summary
judgment context, the Court finds it appropriate in the motion to dismiss contexlasThe
arguments that Shroyer has raised in its Motion to Strike are all arguments it could dnaden
some cases, didraise in response to Defendants’ Motion to DismiShroyer is not entitled to
another brief in which to raise arguments against dismissdditiénally, Shroyer's arguments
relate to the facts the Court should consider in deciding the Motion to Dismiss, and casesst
relate to Defendants not following the correct standard. The Court is capable oh@gpipéy
correctstandard to the factiscussed by the parties, and deciding which of those facts are properly
considered based on the motion to dismiss standard. It will npickithe way that Defendants
have characterized factisrougha Motion to Strike, but rather will only consider the wakd
facts in the Amended Complaint when considering the Motion to Dismiss. Shroyertn Nt
Strike Immaterial and Surpludatter from Defendants’ Motioto Dismiss for Failure to State a
Claim, [Filing No. 5§, is DENIED.

B. Motion for Leave to File Surreply

Shroyer also moves to file a surreply to Defendants’ reply brief in support oiMbgon
to Dismiss. Filing No. 66] It argues that “the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure neither explicitly
require nor prohibit the Plaintiff§Surreply] [and] justice demands the Plaintiff be permitted to

correct misstatements tfw and fact to be found in that MemorandumFilifg No. 66 at 1]

Shroyer submits its proposed surreplyhich focuses on allegations in the Amended Complaint
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and argues thahose allegations suppdhe claims that Shroyer has assertédlifg No. 6641 at

1-2]
Defendants respond that the Locallés do not provide for a surreply on a motion to
dismiss, and it leave to file a surreply should only be given when new matters are argued in a

reply brief. Filing No. 67 at 1] Defendants argue that Shroyer’s proposed surreply does not

addressiew matters raised for the first time in a reply briéfilifig No. 67 at 1-3

Defendants are correct that the Local Rules do not give thenngant an opportunity to
file a surreplyin opposition to a motion to dismiss. And while the Local Rules do provide for a
surrgly in connection with a motion for summary judgment, one can only be filed “if the movant
cites new evidence in the reply or objects to the admissibility of the eeidéad in the response,”
and “must be limited to the new evidence and objections.” L.R. 56-1(d). Here, even dm@ysurr
were permitted in the motion to dismiss contartler the same circumstances it is in the
summary judgment context, Shroyer'sopoed surreply would still be inappropriate. In the
proposed surreply, Shroyer does not address any new matters raised by Defertlamtseply
brief —indeed, it makes no attempt to argue that Defendants raised new maéttiens. No. 66
1] It appears that Shroyer simply seeks another bite at the apple, to rehash iesngggom
opposition to dismissal, and this is not permitted. Shroyer's Motion for Leave to Reply
Defendant’s Rgponse in Support of Dismissédfiljng No. 64, is DENIED.

C. Request for Oral Argument

Shroyer’s Request for Oral Argument states that “a hearing is the mo#ffiorent means

of resolving disputes on the issues” raised in the Motion to Disnfiggag[No. 69] Defendants

oppose the requestFifing No. 7Q]
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The parties’ briefs have afforded the Court an adequate basis on which to ithie on
pending Motion to Dismiss without the assistance of oral argument. The Court, therefore
DENIES Shroyer’s Request for Oral Argumerttjljng No. 69.

.
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS

A. Standard of Review

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2¢quires only ‘a short and plain statement of the
claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief2fickson v. Padus 551 U.S. 89, 982007)
(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)). “Specific facts are not necessarstaieenent need only ‘give
the defendant fair notice of what the...claim is and the grounds upon which it réstsk5on
551 U.S. at 9%quotingBell Atlantic v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (200)7)

A 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss asks whether the complaint “contain[s] sufficietiaia
matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fasecroft v. Igbal
556 U.S. 662, 678009)(quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 570 In reviewing the sufficiency of the
complaint, the Court must accept all weléd facts as true and draw all permissible inferences in
favor of the plaintiff. SeeActive Disposal, Inc. v. City of Darie®35 F.3d 883, 886 (7th Cir.
2011) The Court will not accept legal conclusions anaasory allegations as sufficient to state
a claim for relief. SeeMcCauley v. City of Chicag®71 F.3d 611, 617 (7th Cir. 2011kactual
allegations must plausibly state an entitlement to relief “to a degree that risestadepeculative
level.” Munson v. Gaeix73 F.3d 630, 633 (7th Cir. 201ZJhis plausibility determination is “a
contextspecific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial iexjger and

common sense.ld.
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B. Background
The factual allegations in Shroyer's Amended Complaint, which the Court megt asc
true in connection with the Motion to Dismiss, are as follows:
1. Defendants’ Employment With the City of Muncie
Defendant Craig Nichols is the Building Commissioner for the City of Muncierenltne
has“the solediscretion to decide whether a given structure in the City of Muncie is unsife a

must be demolished.” F[ling No. 41 at 4 Once Mr. Nichols makes a decision regarding

demolition, the City of Muncie puts the demolition projects out for bid based on hisodecis

[Filing No. 41 at 4 Mr. Nichols has “the sole authority to a) obligate the City’s Unsaf&lBigi

Fund to compensate contractors who demolish condemned buildings for the City of Muncie, and
b) recover that expenditure by placing priority liens on real and personal prodedytditthe

record owners of the demolished buildingsFilihg No. 41 at 4 Mr. Nichols is also the sole or

majority owner of Advanced Walls and Ceilings, InddVanced), a Delaware County business
which bids and quotes for demolition contracts with the City of Muncie and the Munciar$anit

District. [Filing No. 41 at 4 Asthe owner of Advanced, Mr. Nichols is in direct competition

with Shroyer for demolition contracts in the City of Munci€ilipg No. 41 at g

Defendant Terry Whitt Bailey is the Director of the Ciy Muncie’s Community
Development Department, and “has authority to commit certain City funds towatdrtiwdition

of unsafe buildings.” Hiling No. 41 at g

Defendants James Leepilly Marshall, Aaron Wood, Brading, and Debra Malitz each

hold a seat on the City of Muncie’s Unsafe Building Hearing AuthoriBHA”). [Filing No.
41 at 23.] Each was appointed tbat position by the Mayor of Muncie, pursuant to Muncie City

Ordinance. [iling No. 41 at 3 As members of the UBHA, these individuals have “the power
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and authority to review the Bding Commissionés demolition orders, and vote to affirm, modify

or rescind those orders.”Fi[ing No. 41 at § A decision of the UBHA is subject to judicial

review, but only by auit filed in Delaware Circuit Court within ten days of the decisidfiling
No. 41 at 3
2. The 2000 Contract
On March 12, 2015, Shroyer contracted with Popatlal Patel to dentadisbriner Budget

Inn located at 2000 North Martin Luther King Jr. BlvdMuincie (the “2000 Contrac). [Filing

No. 41 at § The 2000 Contract provided that Shroyer would be paid a total of $45,825,000

due upon start,” and “$20,000 due upon release of performance béiicthty No. 412 at 1] As
the City of Muncie’s Building Commissioner, Mr. Nichols hadcess to a Phase One
Environmental Site Assessment done by the City of Muncie on the Budget Inn, and should have

known of a high probability that there were buried fuel tanks on the stieng[No. 41 at §

Acting as the City of Muncie’s Building Commissioner, and without raising adialty to any
issues relating to fuel tanks that might be buried on the Budget Inn property, Mr.aNietpoired
Mr. Patel to posa performance bond totaling $70,000, which waecured to protect the City of

Muncie in case the demolition was not completélifg No. 41 at 5-9

Shroyer demolished the Budget Inn structammpletely, and removed the concrete

foundation and the asphalt which covered the parking lot that served the kdieb No. 41 at
6.] Mr. Nichols released $50,000 of the bond, thhetUBHA retained the remaining $20,000 as
Shroyer’s final compensation for services once the foundations and asphalt weredeifiling

No. 41 at § When Shroyer removed the asfihit discovered a concrete slalkiljhpg No. 41 at

6.] After the structure was gone and the debris was removed, Mr. Nichols refused to @erfor

final inspection or pass the property until Shroyer removed the concrete pad uratgtthie lot
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and concrete and steel fuel tanks it encased which were buried on the prdpérty.Np. 41 at

6.] On the advice of Mr. Nicholghe UBHA withheld Shroyer’'s income pending Shroyer’s
removal of the concrete pad and fuel tanks, even though the Indiana Department of EBntebnm

Management informed Mr. Nichols that the tanks were s&féind No. 41 at g

UBHA memberdave retainethe balance of Mr. Patel’s bond, until Shroyer removes the

concrete pad and fuel tanksEillng No. 41 at 6] This work was not included or anticipated in

the 2000 Contract.Fjling No. 41 at § Neither Mr. Nichols nor any UBHA members have offered

to pay Shroyer anything additiorfalr the extra work of removing the concrete pad and the fuel

tanks. Filing No. 41 at 6-] Shroyer believes that because it has refused to remove the concrete

pad and fuel tanks without compensation, Mr. Nichols “has removed or will remove¢ghios
competitor, from the list of demolition contractors whose bids for City cdstveill be received

and considered.” Hiling No. 41 at 7 Despite its refusal to pass the Budget Inn demolition for

inspection,the UBHA discharged a mobile home park demolition in Muncie that had concrete

slabs, unfilled foundation holes, debris, and other holes remairfifiqng[No. 41 at 7]

3. The 812 Contract
On December 2, 2015, Shroyer entered into a contract with the City of Muncie to demolish

a structure at 812 West 11th Street in Muncie (the “812 &cffjtr [Filing No. 41 at 7] The 812

Contract provided that Shroyer would be paid $4,137 for the demolitidimg[No. 41 at 1 The

812 Contract gave Shroyer thirty days to complete demolition after issuaabmbte to Proceed,

which issued on December 15, 2015ilifg No. 41 at 78.] The thirtieth day after the Notice to

Proceed was issued was January 14, 20&6nd No. 41 at §

On December 15, 2015, after Shroyer had started demolition, the Delaware Cinaxiit

issued an Order prohibiting the City of Muncie from demolishing the structure at 8121 Wes
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Street. Filing No. 41 at § Shroyer employees were escorted off the premises by Mpabee

officers, and were not permitted to secure the property agaispas® Hiling No. 41 at §

Shroyer alleges thahé Order made Shroyer’s performance under the@itiractimpossible,

andthatShroyer’s performance deadline wammsequently tolled.Hling No. 41 at §

On January 5, 2016, the Delaware Circuit Court issue@rder allowing demolition to

resume. [iling No. 41 at § On January 8, 2016, Ms. Bailey notified Shroyer to resume

demolition. Filing No. 41 at § Shroyer officials left a voicemail for Ms. Bailey and responded

by email later on Jarary 8,confirming that Shroyer would resume demolition on January 14,

2016 (its original deadline to complete demolijiofFiling No. 41 at § On January 14, Shroyer

informed Ms. Bailey that it could not resume demolition that day because it was watrkimgther
site that was secured by the Daleville City Police Department and recharetbsure of Indiana
State Road2, and that abandoning that site would waste resources of the City of Daleville at

Shroyer’s expense.Flling No. 41 at 89.] Ms. Bailey responded th&hroyer had to complete

demolition by 5:00 that day, January 14, and that any failure to do so would be considerel a breac

of the 812 Contract.Hling No. 41 at 9

Because Shroyerould not perform the demolition on January 14, and claiming that a
public emergency existed, Ms. Bailey asked the Muncie Board of Publikswwmhire another

company to finish removing and filling the basement at 812 West 11th StFeletg No. 41 at

9.] Shroyer claims that no such emergency existedinf No. 41 at 4 The other company was

paid from the funds the City had agreed to pay Shroyer under the 812 Coriirlaat. No. 41 at

9.] Shroyer is concerned that its failure to complete work under the 812 Contrachivasuted
to, or will lead to, Mr. Nichols and Ms. Bailey removing Shroyer from the lisggfonsive bidders

for City demolition projects. Hiling No. 41 at 9
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4. The Lawsuit
Shroyer initiated thiditigation on April 1, 2016, [filing No. 1], and filed the operative
Amended Complaint on September 2, 20Edirfg No. 41]. Shioyer alleges the following claims
against Defendant§l) violation of42 U.S.C. § 19832) conversion; and {dusiness efamation.

[Filing No. 41 at 9-132

C. Discussion
Defendants argue that Shroyer fails to allege an adtlertlaim under§ 1983, or for

conversion or business defamatiofilifjg No. 55 at 920.] The Court will address the adequacy

of each of Shroyer’s claims in turn.
1. §1983 Claim

In connection with it 1983 claim, Shroyestates that it filed the lawsuit “to vindicate
andexert the rights of the Plaintiff to equal protection under the law, includingdiig:J a) to
perform and be compensated for private contracts without interferenceveyn@ent officials;
b) to hold choses in action and a valid expectation of payment for services rendered wafithout |
hindrance or encumbrance from the State or its political subdivisions; c) to holdtpraipall
sorts free of Government interference, unless due process results itinaategtaking and
adequate compensation, alleasured by the 13th and 14th Amendments to the Constitution of the

United States....” Hiling No. 41 at 34.] Shroyeralleges that Defendants’ actions “damaged

2 Shroyer included a claim against Defendants for violatigi2af.S.C. § 198in both the original
Complaint and the Amended Complaint, but had abandoned the § 1981 claim during briafing of
previous Motion to Dismiss. Ffling No. 29 at 1 Shroyer stating “[t]he Plaintiff's Complaint
never alluded to race because the Plaintiff has no claim 42dd6C Sec 1981 That section is
named by inadvertence...])Because Shroyer does not set forth any allegations suppoging a
1981claim in the Amended Complaint, and because the parties do not discuss suchratbkimm
briefs related to the Motion to Dismiss, the Court assumes that Shroyesisgoeeference to 8§
1981 in the Amended Complaint was a typographical error and that Shroyer simgydytéail
remove the reference when filing the Amended Complaint.
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[Shroyer] financially, andvere intended, either directly or indirectly, to benefit Defendant Nichols

personally.” Filing No. 41 at 9 It asserts that Defendants “committed, consented to, conspired

to commit,or authorized actions which were either a) criminal conversion, definedtm|&iv as
the knowing or intentional exercise of unauthorized control over [Shroyer’s] prapdn) clearly
outside the scope of the employee’s employment; c) malicious; ld)lvaihd wanton; and/or e)

calculated to benefit one defendant personally=ilifg No. 41 at 910.] The Court will first

consider whether Shroyer state§ 4983claim and, if so, will then consider whether qualified
immunity shields any of the Defendants from liability.

a. Whether Shroyer Stateal983Claim

Defendants argue that @lyer fails to allege alaim undeg 1983 because even assuming
Defendants’ actions were taken under color of state law, Shroyer “received $5,000=0anor
it stood entitled to receive under the 2000 Contract,” and that any injury Shroyer sustéated
to the 812 Contract was “becauskits own action/inaction, not because of any actions by

[Defendants” [Filing No. 55 at 11] Defendants argue further that Shroyer did not request an

extension under the 812 Contract, and that Shroyer’s performance under the 812 Cositnatt wa

impossible. [Filing No. 55 at 1112.] Defendants note that Shroyer’s allegations indicate that its

own schedule, andot the actions of others, caused it to not be able to timely perform the 812

Contract. Filing No. 55 at 19

Shroyer argues that it has stated a claim uBd¥83 because it aljes that Defendants
are persos that they acted under color of state law, that they “subjected [Shroyerjus®dca
[Shroyer] to be subjected, to the deprivation of rights, privileges, or immunitieseddayithe
Constitution and laws of the Uniteda$es,” and that Shroyer was injured by Defendants’ actions.

[Filing No. 61 at 2-3
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On reply? Defendants argue that Shroyer’s response simply refers back to the Amended
Complaint, whichyst contains “a formulaic recitation of the elements Btation 198%ause of

action.” [Filing No. 64 at 4 Defendants reiterate the arguments they made in their initial brief,

and also note that “[Shroyer] has included no sptdd facts in the Amended Complaint from
which it could be held, let alone inferred, that the [Defendants] have prevented [Simayer]
participating as a responsive bidder when the City of Muncie announces bidding on demolition

projects.” Filing No. 64 at 56.] Defendants assert that even if Shroyer had allegecst w

prevented from engaging in the bidding process, that would not constgui®&3violation in

any event. [filing No. 64 at 6]

42 U.S.C. § 198provides that “[e]very person who, under color of any...State...subjects,

or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States...to the deprivation ahemy ri
privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shadilide to the party injured
in anaction at law...” To state a claim undér2 U.S.C. § 1983 plaintiff must allege that it was:
(1) deprived of a federal right, privilege, or immunity; (2) by any perstingaunder color of state
law. Brown v. Budz398 F.3d 904, 908 (7th Cir. 2005t is well-established that a plaintiff only
may bring a8 1983claim against those individuals personally responsible for the constitutional
deprivation.” Doyle v. Camelot Care Centers, In805 F.3d 603, 614 (7th Cir. 2002)

“[T]he first step in [analyzing] any [1983] claim is to identify the speatfomstitutional

right allegedlyinfringed.” Albright v. Oliver 510 U.S. 266, 271 (1994 Here, Shroyer refers in

3 The Court notes that Defendants’ reply brief appears to be in a font smaller thant12Riaig

No. 64] Local Rule 51(b) requires that “[a]ny pleading, motion, brief, affidavit, notice, or
proposed order filed with the court, whether electronically or with the clarkf.muse at least
12-point type in the body of the document....” Local Rul&(8) provides that “[t]he clerk will
accept a document that violates this rule, but the court may exclude the dotramethe official
record.” Defendants’ counsel is cautioned that futailere to comply with bcal Rule 51 may
result in exclusion of documents from the Court’s consideration.
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passing to rights under the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution to “perform and be compensated for private contracts without natexée by
Government officials,” “hold choses in action and a valid expectation of paymentryarese
rendered without let, hindrance or encumbrance from the state or its political sidodiyiand

“hold property of all sorts free of Government interferencegssildue process results in a

legitimate taking and adequate compensation..Eiling No. 41 at 34.] Shroyer alsoefers to

“involuntary servitude,” Filing No. 41 at | andvaguely alleges that Defidants conspired to

violate its constitutional rightsE[ling No. 41 at Shroyer alleging that Dehdants “committed,

consented to, conspired to commit, or authorized actions”)].
The Court notes at the outset that Defendants appear to agree, or at least fass

purposes ofhe Motion to Dismiss, that thexcted under color of state lawSdeFiling No. 55 at

10 (Defendants statinAssumingarguendothat the City Defendants’ actions were taken under
color of state law, Plaintiffs Amended Complaint nonetheless fails to stateieniffwellpled
facts to survive a motion to dismiss under Section 1983 under either contract disoused i
Amended Corplaint”) (emphasis in original).]
As to Shroyer’s substantive allegations, while the Amended Complaint is notige @€t
clarity, the Court discerns the following allegations in connection with Shroyer’s 8§ 1983 claims
¢ In connection with the 20000ontract, thatMr. Nichols required a performance
bond of $70,000 on the 2000 Contract, released only $50,000 of théobbnd
retained the remaining $20,000 until the foundations and asphaltemeoged,
andadvised the UBHA to withhold Shroyer’s income on 860 Contract
pending passing final inspection, which Mr. Nichols refused to perféiitimd
No. 41 at 5-§
e Also in connection with the 2000 Contract, that Mr. Lee, Mr. Marshall, Mr.

Wood, Mr. King, and Ms. Malitz, in their role as members of the UBHA,
withheld Shroyer’s income by refusing to release the bénidhd No. 41 at §
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e In connection with the 812 Contract, that Mr. Lee, Mr. Marshall, Mr. Wood,
Mr. King, and Ms. Malitz, in their role as members of the UBHA, withheld
Shroyer’'s compensatiorfifing No. 41 at §

e ThatMr. Nichols and Ms. Bailey have removed, or will remove, Shroyer from
the list of demolition contractors whose bids for City contracts will be redeive
and consideredFjling No. 41 at 7Filing No. 41 at § and

e That Defendants acted to damage Shroyer financially, and to benefit Mr.
Nichols personally.

The Court will consider whether Shroyer’s allegations are sufficient t® c&ms for violéion
of the Thirteenth or Fourteenth Amendments, or conspiracy to violate those amendments.
I. Thirteenth Amendment

The Thirteenth Amendment provides that “[n]either slavery nor involuntary servitude,
except as a punishment for crime whodrthe party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist
within the United States, or any place subject to their jurisdictiohS. Const. amend. X|IBg 1.
The Thirteenth Amendment was “intended ‘to cover those forms of compulsory labor akin to
African slavery.” Chapman v. Yello®AB Cooperative2016 WL 6956624, *7 (E.D. Wis. 2016)
(quotingUnited States v. Kozminski87 U.S. 931, 942 (1988)

Shroyer appears to allege that Defendants have violated his Thirteenth Amerightent
by refusing to release the bond related to the 2000 Contract until it performs adaitokaot
covered by the contract. This allegation simply does notaite level of involuntary servitle
contemplated by the Thirteenth Amendment. Indeed, in response to the Motion to Dismiss,
Shroyer does not even mention the Thirteenth Amendment, nor cite to any authority tie indica
that its allegations related toett?000 Contract could support a violation of the Thirteenth
Amendment. Shroyer’s vague allegation that withholding the bond woulditémbave towvork
without compensation cannot support a claim that the Thirteenth Amendment has beed. violat

SeeUnited Statey. Hook 471 F.3d 766, 775 (7th Cir. 200@hirteenth Amendment claim failed
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where plaintiff “fail[ed] toprovide any citation or basis for his assertion” that the circumstances
constituted “enslavement”)Jnited States v. Lan#g 205 F.3d 951, 957 (7th Cir. 2000We
repeatedly have made clear that perfunctory and undeveloped arguments, andtarthanare
unsupported by pertinent authority, are waived (even where those arguments raifgioonstti
issuey’).

To the extent Shroyer alleges that Defendants’ actions in connection with the@t2cC
violated the Thirteenth Amendment, those allegations also do not support such a clairer'ssShroy
own allegations indicate that Shroyer ultimately did not perform the eengemolition under
the 812 Contract in fact, Shroyer alleges that Defendant’s actions, and the state court order,
prevented it from doing so. These allegations do not support a claim that Shreyerosd into
involuntary servitude, in violation of the Thirteenth Amendnfent.

Shroyer does not set forth allegations that state a claim for violation of theehthrte

Amendment “that is plausible on its facédbal, 556 U.S. at 67 itation and quotation omitted)

4 Defendants argue repeatedly that Shroyer has not adequately alleged it wasddamag
connection with the 2000 Contract because it was actually paid more than the $45,000 payment
required under the 2000 Contract since the City released $50,000 of the $70,00(Seen ..

Filing No. 55 at 11(“Based on the fds set forth in the Amended Complaint, Plaintiff received
$5,000.00 more than it stood entitled to receive under the 2000 Contract. Thus, no claim for
damages exists”).] While it is true that the 2000 Contract, which Shridggehed to the Amended
Complaint, provides that Shroyer is to be paid a total of $45,000, the 2000 Contract also provides
that $20,000 of that $45,000 will be “due upon release of performance béticht) No. 412 at

1] Shroyer alleges in the Amended Complaint that the City has released $50,000 of the
performance bond, but does not allege that it was then paid this amount by Mr. Patidct)n ef
Defendants ask the Court to infer that this payment occurredDbfendants are not entitled to

such an inference, especially at the motion to dismiss stage of the litightiany eventas
discussed above and below, Shroyer’s allegations are inadequate to suppottitaticoals
violation.
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il Fourteenth Amendment
In the Amended Complaint, Shroyer appears to refer, in passing, to bothdHeobess

and Equal Protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendm&eteF{ling No. 41 at 4(Shroyer

alleging that it is filing thest to vindicate and exeitts rights“to equal protection under the law”
including “to hold property of all sorts free of Government interference, unless dusgresalts

in a legitimategiaking and adequate compensation.. Filing No. 41 at {Shroyer alleging that it

“is not receiving equal protection under the laws as administered by the Da&phfawhile
these allegations are made in a “dfbw¢ fashion, the Court will consider them out of an
abundance of caution.

The Fourteenth Amendment’'s Due Process Clause prohibits states from “depawiyng]
person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.S. Const. Amend. XIy81. A
procedural due process clatmvhich is what Shroyer appears to allege herguires Shroyer to
allege”(1) a cognizable property interest; (2) a deprivatidrthat property interest; and (3) a
denial of due process.Khan v. Bland 630 F.3d 519, 527 (7th Cir. 201@ee ato Belcher v.
Norton 497 F.3d 742, 750 (7th Cir. 200F)n order to maintain successfully a procedural due
process @im, the plaintifff ]| must show that [ivad deprived of a constitutionally protected
interest in life, libertyor property. If the plaintiff| Jcan establish such a loss, we then must
determine what process was due regarding tha) Idsging Porter v. DiBlasig 93 F.3d 301, 305
(7th Cir. 1996).

Here, Shroyealleges that it filed the lawsuit to vindicate its rightshold property of all
sorts free of Government interference, unless due process results itiraategtaking and

adequate compensation.Filing No. 41 at 4 While the Court surmises that Shroyer relies on its

allegations that it was not compensated for its work under the 2000 Contract, arud pexsnitted
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to perform the 812 Contract, Shroyer does not allege that these were constifufprotected
rights nor does it provide any detail regarding any “process” of which it was deprited, as
with its Thirteenth Amendment claim, Shroyer does not reference the Fourfeastidment’s
Due Process Clause at all in its response brief, nor even attemptaimexhy it has such a claim.

[SeeFiling No. 61 at 13 (in response to Defendants’ dismissal arguments o 1833 claim,

Shroyer merely repeats the elements &f E83claim and states that it has adequately alleged
such a claim).]

Additionally, Shroyer’s own allegations indicate that it did not perform the 812 &xntr
because it had committed to work on another job on Januanttel day that the City wanted

Shroyer to resume demolitionFifing No. 41 at §Shroyer alleging in the Amended Complaint

that “[o]n the 14th the Shroyer brothers infeed Ms. Bailey that they could not resume demolition
on that day; they had work at another site that was secured by Daleville @ityddal the closure
of Indiana State Road 32, and to abandon that site would waste resources of tié®aligyille

at [Shroyer’'s] expense”).] Whether Shroyer's Amerformance was excused is a matter of
contract interpretation, and does not turn Shroyer’s claim in connection with the 81ZCatdra

a constitutional oneSeeHorwitz-Matthews, Inc. v. City of Chicag@8 F.3d 1248, 1250 (7th Cir.
1996)(“when a state repudiates a contracivtoch it is a party it is doing nothing different from
what a private party does when the party repudiates a contract; it is coganlttieach of contract.

It would be absurd to turn every breach of contract by a state or municipality int@@owiof

5> Shroyer alleges that decision of the UBHA is subject to judicial review through a suit filed in
Delaware Circuit Court within ten days of the decisiéiljrig No. 41 at  but tellingly does not
allegethat it sought judicial review of the UBHA'’s decision to withhold the bond on the 2000
Contract. Shroyer did not pursue the process that was available.
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the federal Constitution”). Shroyer has not adequately alleged a claim undéoutieenth
Amendment’s Due Process Clause.

The Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause commands that no statiesiyall
to any person within its jurisdiction tlegual protection of the laws, which essentially is a direction
that all persons similarly situated should be treated alikésion Churchv. Vill. of Long Grove
468 F.3d 975, 1000 (7th Cir. 200@)tation omitted). “All equal protection claims, regardless of
the size of the disadvantaged class, are based on the principle that, underdikstaimces and
conditions people must be treated alike, unless there is a rational reason for treatmg t
differently.” LaBella Winnetka, Inc. v. Villagef Winnetka 628 F.3d 937, 941 (7th Cir. 2010)
(citation and quotation omitted).

Again, Shroyer does not clearly allege an Equal Protection elaimoes not allege that
it was treated differently than other, similarly situated, companies. Tttt ¢hat it bases its
Equal Protection claim on its allegation that Mr. Nichols &sd Bailey removed, or may have
removed, Shroyer from the list of responsive bidders for City demolition projects,asuc
allegation falls far short of supporting that type of claim.

Specifically, Shroyer alleges that “[Shroyer’s] failure to completee[B12Contract] per
Defendant Bailey’'s demand has ostensibly contributed, or will ostensiblytzdatito Defendant
Nichols and Defendant Bailey removing [Shroyer] from the list of responsiverbidlaeCity

demolition projects.” [iling No. 41 at 9 see alsoFiling No. 41 at 7(Shroyer alleging that

“[b]ecause [Shroyer] has refused to do uncompensated work, it has good reascevtothati
under the color of his authority as a City official, Defendant Nichols maswed or will remove
[Shroyer], his competitor, from the list of demolition contractors whose bidstipc@itracts will

be received and considered”).] Shroyer’s allegations do nothing more tharheasessibility
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that Mr. Nichols and Ms. Bailey removed it, or will remove it, from the list of respetsddes

for City demolition projects. These types of speculative allegations caunmpdrt a constitutional
claim. SeeDahlia v. Rodriguez 735 F.3d 1060, 1076 (9th Cir. 201@3])]t is well within [the
Court’s] wheelhouse to reject, as implausible, allegations that are too specaatarrant further
factual development”),Oliver v. DirecTV, LLC 2015 WL 1727251, *3 (N.D. Ill. 2015)
(allegations that defendants possibly used automatic telephone dialing spssmpport of
plaintiff's Telephone Consumer Protection Act claim dismissed because allegations did not raise
a plausible inference that defendants actually did $o)short, Shroyer has not adequately alleged

a claim under the Fourteenth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause.

® The Court also notes that Shroyer would not have standing to assert a claim t@igifgure
remova from the City’s list of potential biddersSeeOtrompke v. Skolnjk826 F.3d 999 (7th Cir.
2016)(holding plaintiff who sought to enjoin enforcement of a bar admission rule had not alleged
harm, and therefore did not have standing, because he had not yet applied for admission to the ba
and “[t]he rule will harm him only if he would be admitted to the Indiana bar were thé¢orble
invalidated but not otherwise”’Remijas v. Neiman Marcus Group, LLT94 F.3d 688, 692 (7th

Cir. 2015)(“Allegations of future harm can establish Article Il standing if thatrhes certainly
impending, but allegations of possible future injury are not sufficient”)ti@its and quotations
omitted). Moreover, Shroyer has not alleged that being included on the City’s list ofipbtent
bidders is a constitutional right and, indeed, the Court cannot imagine that thicé&s¢hSee,

e.g, Coynebelaney Co., Inc. v. Capital Development Bd. of State pbll6 F.2d 341, 343 (7th

Cir. 1980)(“a potential supplier to the state has no property interest in having its product pdrchas
or specified”).

" Shroyer's onesentence allegation that the UBHA determined thaiohile home park passed
inspection and “discharged it” even though it had concrete slabs, unfilled holes, anctitgis
site, [Filing No. 41 at T, is not sufficient to allege an Equal Protection claim. Shroyer provides
no detail whatsoever regarding that demolition project, the company thatrnped§ the
demolition, or other information that would indicate the circumstances were similae to th
circumstances here.
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ii. Conspiracy Allegations

As noted above, Shroyer alleges that Defendants “committed, consented to, conspired to
commit, or authorized actions,” but does not refer specifically to constitutiondiomsa [Filing
No. 41 at 9-1( This is the extent of Shroyer’s conspiracy allegations.

“To establish Section 1983 liability through a conspiracy theory, a plaintifét m
demonstrate that: (1) a state official and private individual(s) redeamh@nderstanding to deprive
the plaintiff of his constitutional rights, and (2) those individuai{gie willful participants in joint
activity with the State or its agentsReynolds v. Jamisod88 F.3d 756, 764 (7th Cir. 2007)
(internal citations omittedYVague and conclusory allegations of the existence of a conspiracy are
not enough to sustain a plaintiff's burden; a complaint must contain factual afegysiiggesting
that the defendants reached a meeting of the minds” to violate plaintiff's coosaiutights.
Evers v. Reak1 Fed. Appx. 447, 450 (7th Cir. 2001)

Here, Shroyer's conspiracy allegations could bet much vaguer. The Amended
Complaint does not contain any allegations that Defendants reached an understahd@agw
otherto deprive Shroyer of its constitutional rights, nor that they were willful paatitgpin a
conspiracy. To the extent Sheryasserts 8 1983conspiracy claim, it is not adequately pled and
is dismissed.

b. Whether Qualified Immunity Applies

Because the Court has found that Shroyer has not adequately alleged a claig®83er
it need not consider Defendants’ qualified immunity argument. In the interest ofighoiess,
however, the Court will briefly consider Defendants’ argumédfendants argue that Mr. Lee,
Mr. Marshall, Mr. Wood, Mr. King, and Ms. Malitzall UBHA members-are entitled to qualified

immunity because Shroyer does not allege that those individuals “had any fisadewking
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authority in their official capacitiesithh regards to any contracts with the PlaintiffZiling No.
55 at 13]
Shroyer responds that UBHA members would only be entitled to qualified immunity to the

extent that Shroyer seeknjunctive relief [Filing No. 61 at g

On reply, Defendants contend thi#HA members are entitled to qualified immunity from
claims seeking monetary relief, not just injunctieéiaf, when they are sued in their personal

capacities. Hiling No. 64 at 7 Theyalsoargue that Shroyer does not directly address their

qualified immunity argument.Fjling No. 64 at 7]

“Government officials performing discretionary functions ergoyualified immunity....”
Leaf v Shelnutt400 F.3d 1070, 1079 (7th Cir. 2009} is “immunity from suitather than a mere
defense to liability.”Estate of Miller, ex rel. Bertram v. Tobia€&80 F.3d 984, 988 (7th Cir. 2012)
(emphasis in original) (citation and afation marks omitted). “Qualified immunity gives
government officials ‘the benefit of legal doubts.Rooni v. Biser742 F.3d 737, 743 (7th Cir.
2014) (quoting Elliott v. Thomas 937 F.2d 338, 341 (7th Cir. 1991see alsoFindley v.
Lendermon722 F.3d 895, 899 (7th Cir. 201(3Qualified immunity protects public servants from
liability for reasonale mistakes made while performing their public duties”). Its purpose is “to
provide reasonable notice to government officials that certain conduct violatesutions| rights
before a plaintiff can subject them to liabilityRarducci v. Moore572 F.3d 313, 318 (7th Cir.
2009) “Qualified immunity balances two important interesthe need to hold public officials
accountable when they exercise power irresponsibly and the need to shielalsofficm
harassment, distraction, and liability when they perform their dutiesnaaly.” Pearson v.

Callahan 555 U.S. 223, 231 (2009)“Once the defense of qualified immunity is raised, ‘it
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becomeshe plaintiff's burden to defeat it."Estate of Escobedo v. Martin02 F.3d 388, 404 (7th
Cir. 2012)(quotingWheeler v. Lawsqrb39 F.3d 629, 639 (7th Cir. 2003)

“To determine whether a defendant is entitled to qualified immunity, courts mussaddr
two issues: (1) whether the defendant violated the plaintiff's constitutigis rand (2) whether
the right at issue was clearly established at the time of the violati@adni 742 F.3d at 742
(citation omitted). The Court may decide these factors in either okdi€éer v. Harbaugh 698
F.3d 956, 962 (7th Cir. 2012)If the right at issue was not clearly established at the time of the
violation, the Court may exercise its discretion not to determine whetheletendant violated
that plaintiff’'s constitutional right.SeePearson 555 U.S. at 23¢“[T]he judges of the distric
courts and the courts of appeals should be permitted to exercise their sound discretinimigp de
which of the two prongs of the qualified immunity analysis should be addressed figttiof
the circumstances in the particular case at hand”).

The Qurt notes that Shroyer does not directly address Defendants’ qualifiaghitpm
argument, instead only stating th#BHA members may be entitled to qualified immunity from

claims seeking injunctive relief. Elling No. 61 at 2(Shroyer arguing that qualified immunity

“does not give members of the [UBHA] immunity from suit under Section 1983 except to the
extent that we ask for injunctive relief”)As discussed above, once qualified immunity has been
raised as a defense, it is the plaintiff's burden to defedidiate of Escobedo/02 F.3d at 404
Shroyer does not address the qualified immunity argumentdreaahd certainly does not address
what right Defendants’ allegedly infringegbon, nor whether that right was clearly established.
Shroyer has not sustained its burden of defeating qualified immunity.

Further,and in any event, the Court has already found that Shroyer has not adequately

alleged the violation of a constitutional right. Accordingly, Shroyis thae first part of the two
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part test for determining whether qualified immunity appli@seEversole v. Steel®9 F.3d 710,

717 (7th Cir. 1995*"When a defendant raises the defense of qualified immunity, this court
engages in a twpart, objective inquiry: the court must determine (1) whether the plaintiff has
asserted a violation of a federal constitutional right, and (2) whether the comsaitigiandards
implicated were clearly established at the time in question.... The first part of thativest is

a threshold issue that can defeat entirely a claim of qualified immunity.ldirdif's allegations,
even when accepted as true, do state a cognizable violation of constitutional rights, then the
plaintiff's claim fails”) (citations and quotations omitted).

In sum, Shroyer’'s allegations regarding any constitutionalatrasis are vague and
conclusory, and are insufficient to adetplya allege a8 1983 claim. The Court notes that
Shroyer’s remedies in connection with the 2000 Contract and the 812 Contract may be more
properly sought through breach of contract claims against the parties iIStooyracted with.In
terms of the 2000 Contract, Shroyer alleges that it contracted with Mr, $tatdl. Patel is the
party that owes him money for work performed under the contract. As for the 812aCentra
entered into with the City of Muncie the involvement of City officials or employees does not
automatically constitutionalize Shroyertlains. SeeHorwitz-Matthews, Inc.78 F.3d at 1250
(“when a state repudiates a contract to which it is a party it is doing nothinguiffeom what a
private party does when the party repudiates a contract; it is congrattoreach of contract. It
would be absurd to turn every breach of contbgcastate or municipality into a violation of the
federal Constitution”);Taake v. County of Monrp&30 F.3d 538, 5442 (7thCir. 2008)(“we
have refuted the notion that [constitutional violations atessue simply because a state actor
allegedly broke a contract with a citizen"The City’s refusal to pay Shroyer in connection with

the 812 Contract, and any issues related to Shroyergpadormance of the 812 Contract, are
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more properly viewed through the lens of a breach of contract claim. Shroyey siasphot
alleged that Defendants’ actions in connection with the 2000 Contract or the 812 Contract
(including possibly removing it from the City’s list of responsive bidders for déoroprojects)
rise to the level of constitutional violations. Defendants’ Motion to DismiGRIBNTED as to
Shroyer’s§ 1983 claim.
2. State Law Conversion and Defamation Claims

Because the Court is dismissing Shroy&r983 claim, Shroyer’s only remaining claims
are those brought under Indiana state law. Accordingly, the Court must detevmether to
exercise its discretion to retain jurisdiction over those claims pursuaaty.S.C. § 1367(a)

The district court ultimately has discretion whether to exercise supplemergdigtion
over a plaintiff’s state law claimsCarlsbad Tech., Inc. v. HIF Bio, In&56 U.S. 635, 63@2009)
28 U.S.C. § 1367(q)'The district courts may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a
claim...if...the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has original iictriczal...")
(citation and quotation omitted). When deciding whether to exercise supplemesthtijan,
“a federal court should consider and weigh in each case, and at every stage ofatinenlitige
values of judicial economy, convenience, fairness,camaity.” City of Chicago v. Int'| Coll. of
Surgeonsg522 U.S. 156, 173 (1997quotingCarnegieMellon Univ. v. Cohill 484 U.S. 343, 350
n.7 (1988). “In the usual case in which all federal claims are dismissed before triagltmned
of these factors will point to declining to exercise jurisdiction over any remam@ndent state
law claims rather than resolving them on the meriig/fight v.Associated Ins. Companies Inc.
29 F.3d 1244, 1251 (7th Cir. 1994)

This litigation is in the early stages. Defendants have not yet even answeeadidgations

of Shroyer's Amended Complaint, and no discovery has taken place. Accordingyount
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concludes that all four factorseconomy, convenience, fairness, andiy — strongly weigh in
favor of it relinquishing supplemental jurisdiction over Shroyer’s state llaws and dismissing
those claims without prejudiceDefendants’ Motion to Dismiss as to Shroyer’s conversion and
defamation claims iISRANTED.

V.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court:
e DENIES Shroyer’s Application for Judgment by Defaukiling No. 57;

e DENIES Shroyer's Motion to Strike Immaterial and SurplMstter from
Defendants’ Motiorto Dismiss for Failure to State a Clairkjl[ng No. 59;

e DENIES Shroyer's Motion for Leave to Reply to Defendant’s Response in

Support of Dismisal, [Filing No. 64;

e DENIES Shroyer’'s Request fddral Argument, [filing No. 69; and

e GRANTS Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint Pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(§)[Filing No. 54. Shroyer's § 1983 claim is
DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE 2 and its state law conversion and
defamation claims ardDISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE . Final
judgment shall enter accordingly.

8 Pursuant té-ederal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(1)(@)plaintiff may amend its complaint as

a matter of course in response to a motion to disniisswn v. Bowmamn2011 WL 1296274, *16

(N.D. Ind. 2011) The 2009 notes to that rule emphasize that this amendment “will force the
pleader to consider carefully and promptly the wisdom of amending to meet theeatgumithe
motion. A responsive amendment may avoid the need to decide the motion or reduce the number
of issues to be decided, and will expedite determination of issaestherwise might be raised
seriatim.” Shroyer amended its Complaint once in response to Defendants’ first motionigsdism
however did not revise its allegations relating to the § 1983 claim ddsgitg aware of
Defendants’ arguments in support of dismissal. Shroyer then chose to brief &mt bation to
Dismiss and adjudicate the issues. The Court is not required to give Shrogfeerachance to
plead its § 1983 claim because it has already had multiple opportunities t@ficiendies in its
pleadings. SeeEmery v. American General Finance, Int34 F.3d 1321, 1323 (7th Cir. 99
Further, Shroyer has not given anyigaion that it could, in fact, successfully amend its complaint

to cure the defects identified above, even if given the opportunity to do so. Considering the
procedural history of this case, particularly the fact that Shroyer relglhad the opportiip

to replead its allegations, the Court, in its discretion, dismisses Shroyer's 8cl#i88with
prejudice.
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Date: 12/28/2016 Qmmmxw m

/Hon. Jane M’agén)s—Stinson, Chief Judge
'United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana
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